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v. El Cajon, City of et al D

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

LARRY HAUSER, et al. Case No.: 16¢v3091 W (MDD)
Plaintiffs,
V. ORDER DENYINGING

CITY OF EL CAJON, et a. BFSF,\%’;ES)A[['\)'(TXS: 'gfl]OTION TO
Defendant.

Defendand City of EI Cajon and El Cajon Police Officer Samson Raketo
dismiss the Complaint under Federal Rule nil®rocedure 12(b)(6)Plaintiffs oppose

The Court decides the matter on the papers submitted and without oral argu
SeeCiv. L.R. 7.1(d.1). For the reasons that follow, the CBENIES Defendants’

motion[Doc. 6].
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l. BACKGROUND 1

Plaintiffs Larry andJudy Hauser are the parents and successors in interest of
decedent, Kelsey HausefCompl.[Doc. 1] § 2.) Defendant City of El Cajon is the
employer of Defendant Samson Pak and other police officers referred to Hedefh6.)

On January 16, 2016, at approximately 1:30 &Kmlseywas apassenger in a
stolen 2014 Toyota Yaris driven by Geoffrey Sinf€ompl.{ 10.) El Cajon police
officers attempted to the stop the car, but Sims fled from the offi¢ek$. Defendant
Officer Samson Pak engaged in a high speed pursuit of the catlothbdreeway and
surface streets(ld.)

When the Yarigirove into a cutle-sac on a surface stre€@ifficer Pak a short
distance ahead of several other officeaspymed the right passenger side of the car w
his police car, at a speedajproximatey 25 miles per hour (Compl.q 11.) As he did
so,Officer Pak saw Sims in the driver’s seldglseyin the passenger seat, two males i
the back seat, and a dog in between Sim¥aisky (1d.)

After hitting the Yaris with the front of his vehicl@fficer Pak got out of his
vehicle with his gun drawn(Compl.J 12.) The Yaris slowly backed up, a@fficer Pak
“movel from behindhe carto a positiorin front of the car, then immediately to a
positionapproximately 15 feaiff the passenger siad the car’ (Id.) As the car moved
backwardthen forward at a very slow rate of spe@ffjcer Pak fired several shots “intg
the Yaris at the passenger(fd.) Kelseywas hit twice, in the jaw and chegtd.) She
was conscious and in severe pain until paramedics arrived, bdbliitedng several
emergency medical procedurggd.  13.) The Complaint alleges and Defendants’

motion concurs that at no point dieétlseydo anythinghatposel a threat tdOfficer Pak.

! Throughout this order, parties and witnesses will be referred to by theirast hdowever, to avoid
any confusion, where multiple parties or witnesses share the same lastheymeéll be referred to by
their first name.
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(Id. 1 12 P&A [Doc. 61] 10:16-17.) A gunshot also hit and killed the dog in the fron
seat. (Compl § 12) No shots hit the driver(ld.)

On November 27, 201&elsey’sparents filed two claims againSfficer Pak
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983:4th Amendmenexcessive force claimn Kelsey’sbehalf and
a 14th Amendment loss of familial relationship cldarought on their own behalf
(Compl.qY 14-21.) Defendants now seek to dismiss these tauses of actigmarguing
the Complaint fails to allege sufficient facts to suppatth or 14th Amendment claim
and thaOfficer Pak is entitled to qualified immunityP&A 14:22-15:3) Plaintiffs
oppose thenotion. (SeeOpp’n [Doc. 7].)

Il. L EGAL STANDARD

The Court must dismiss a cause of action for failure to state a claim upon wh
relief can be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). A motion to dismiss under Ruleé&)2
tests the legal sufficiency of the complaifeeParks Sch. of Bus., Inc. v. Symington,
F.3d 1480, 1484 (9th Cir. 1995). A complaint may be dismissed as a matter of law

for lack of a cognizable legal theory or for insufficient facts under a cognizable .thec
Balisteri v. Pacifica Police Dep't., 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). In ruling on th

motion, a court must “accept all material allegations of fact as true and construe th

complaint in a light most favorable to the Armoving party.” Vasquez v. L.A. Cnty.
487 F.3d 1246, 1249 (9th Cir. 2007).

A complaintmust contain “a shoendplain statement of the claim showing that
thepleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). The Supreme Court has

interpreted this rule to mean that “[flactual allegations must be enough to raise a ri
relief above the speculative levelBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly 550 U.S. 554, 55

(2007). The allegations in the complaint must “contain sufficient factual matter, ac
as true, tostate a claim to relief that is plausible on its fdcéshcroft v. Igbal 556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009p(otingTwombly, 550 U.Sat 570).
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Well-pledallegations in the complaint are assumed true, but a court is not rec
to accept legal conclusions couched as facts, unwarranted deductions, or unreaso
inferences.SeePapasan v. Allaiid78 U.S. 265, 28@.986);Sprewell v. Golden State
Watrriors 266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001).

II. DISCUSSION

A. The Complaint’s factual allegations supporta 4th Amendment

violation claim.
Plaintiffs’ first cause of action alleges a 42 U.S.C. § 198&dmsedn the

contention thaOfficer Pak’s shooting and killing dfelseyconstituted an excessive arj

unreasonable use of force and thus an unlawful seizure, in violation4ththe
Amendment. (Compl.| 15.) Defendantargue the claim should ldgsmissed because
Plantiffs fail to establisiKelsey“was seized under tl#¢h Amendment because no fac
establish Pak specifically intended to restjtictisey s] freedom of movement through
the use of force."(P&A 1:17-20.)

A 4th Amendment seizure oacswhen arnofficer intentionallyrestrics another’s
freedom of movementBrower v. Gty of Inyo, 489 U.S. 593, 596 (1989).he detention

must be intentional because #th Amendment protects against misuse of power, “nc

the accidental effects of ottvase lawful government conduct.fd. In effecting a

seizure, a officer's use of deadly force is reasonable ontyh€ officer hagprobable
cause to believe that the suspect poses a threat of serious physical harm, either tg
officer or to others."Tennessee v. Garnet71 U.S. 1, 11 (1985).

The central issuBefendants raisis whether the Complaiatdequatelyasserts thalt

Officer Pak intentionally shot Kelsey. The Complaint alletped Officer Pak “fired
several shots into the Yarmt the passengeat least two of which struck the passengg
Kelsey Hauser.” Gompl.{ 12, emphasis added)efendants arguthis allegation

establishes nmore than a possibility th&lfficer Pak intentionally shot Hausand that

a more concrete statementimentsuch afficer Pak “intended to shoot Hauser” or
4
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“‘intentionally shot Hauseris required (Reply[Doc. 8], 4:14-16.) Although
Defendants’ proposed allegation is a clearer indication of Officer Pak’s intentian wi
firing his weapon, the Court disagrees that the Complaint’s allegation is not sufficig
As set forth above, om motion to dismisghe Court must accept all material
allegations of fact as truand construe th€omplaint in a light most favorable t
Plaintiffs. Vasquez487 F.3dat 1249. Under this standard, the inclusion of “at” prov
an adequate inference Officer Pak’s intent to shodfelsey In short, it is reasonable t
infer that when you shoot a gtiat’ someongyou intened to shoot tat person
Moreover, a@dingplausibility to Plaintiffs’ assertion idie fact thaOfficer Pak
shot atkelseyfrom only 15 feet awaywhile on her side of the car, hitting her twiesad
not hitting the driver Defendantsespond by highlighting that becauselseywas not
driving and had done nothing threatening there would have been no reasafider
Pak tointentionallyshoot Kelsey (P&A 10:16-17.) But suchan argument begs the

question Plaintiffs raise in ithlawsuit: whythe officerfired three shots intthe

passengeride of the cawhile standing only 1%eetaway For these reasons, the Cour

finds the Complaint’s allegations are sufficient to suppdtha&Amendment violation.

B. The Complaint’'s factual allegationssupport a 14th Amendment

violation claim.

Plaintiffs’ second cause of action alleges a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim based on

contention thaOffer Pak’s acts deprived Plaintiffs’ “of their constitutionally protected
due process right to the love, support, affection and companionship of their daught
violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. . .(Compl.§ 20.) Defendantsaise two
grounds for dismissalFirst, Defendants contend ti&ck of adth Amendment claim
preventsPlaintiffs from raising a 14th Amendment clainR&A 11:10-12.) Second,
Defendants argutne Complaint contains no facts “establishing Pak’s use of force w
‘consenceshocking’ [sic] in that it was unrelated to any legitimate law enforcement

objective and employed solely for the purpose of punisfietsey]” (P&A 1:20-23)
5
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The standard of culpability for a due process right to familial association claim
whether the officer’s conduct “shocks the conscien¢tatter v. Osbornb46 F.3d 1131,
1137 (9th Cir. 2008)Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to tit@moving

party, it must be demonstrated that the officer acted with a purpose to harmdasre:

unrelated to legitimate law enforcement objectivies. Whether a jury could infer that

an officer was acting for purposes other than legitimate law enforcement is determ
looking at the totality of the circumstanceSity of Sacramento v. Lewj$23 U.S. 833,

850 (1998).

Defendants preliminarily argubat “the absence of an actionasth Amendment

excessive force claim precludes [Plaintiffs'TMA4mendment loss of familial associatio
claim.” (P&A 11:16-12.) This argument fails, akis Court has founthe allegationsre
sufficient to support 4th Amendment violatiortlaim.

Defendants next argue that there are no allegations establ3tiicgy Pak
deliberately shoKelseywith a purpose unrelated to a legitimate law enforcement
objective. (P&A 11:25-26.) The central problem with Defendants’ argument is that
based on th€omplaint'sallegationsthere would have been no reason@fficer Pak to
targetKelsey In fact,Defendants conceded this point and highlightedKletgey “was
not driving but just was sitting in the car while it was moving, and she did nothing
threatening and never tried to flegP&A 10:16-19.) Given that at tis stagan the

litigation all factspledmust be accepted as true, the Court finds that becausevidrere
legitimate law enforcement objective for OfficerkRa intentionally shooKelsey; it is
reasonable to inféthe officer acted with a purpose lbarm for reasons unrelated to
legitimate law enforcement objectives” ahdishis conductvas“conscienceshocking.”
Porter 546 F.3d at 1137.
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C. Defendant Pak is not entitled to Qualified Immunity

Defendants next argue that if the Court finds viaheor 14th Amendment claims
are allegedOfficer Pak is nevertheless entitled to qualified immuniB&A 12:8-13.)

Qualified immunity shields government officials from liability for monetary
damages niess the plaintiff establishes that (1) the conduct violated a constitutiona|
right, and (2) the right was “clearly established” when the misconduct occiltezason
v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232, 232 (2009) (modifying the twgtep inquiry in
Saucie v. Katz 533 U.S. 194 (2001), to allow courts discretion in deciding which pr

to address first depending on the facts of the particular c&Sarly established”
means “[t]he contours of the right must be sufficiently cteat a reasonable offad
would understand what he is doing violates that right” with careful consideration to
facts of the particular casénderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (199n).
determining whether a right is clearly established, courts “may look at usipedbli

decisions and the law of other circuits, in addition to Ninth Circuit precedemgdn
Legal News v. Lehmar897 F.3d 692, 702 (9th Cir. 20090rrels v. McKee, 290 F.3d
965, 970 (9th Cir. 2002) (looking to “decisions of our sister Circuits, district courts,

state courts” in evaluating if law was clearly established).

Defendantarguethat Officer Pak is entitled to qualified immuniigcause
“[w]hetherpassengarcan bringFourthAmendmenexcessive force claims under any
factual scenario is wertain” andhereforePlaintiffs cannot satisfy the “clearly
established” prong(P&A 12:8-10.)?> But similarto Plaintiffs’ claim here,n Tubarv.
Clift, 453 F. Supp. 2d 1252 (W.D. Wash. 20Q6g district court denied an officer’s
motion for qualified immunity, and allowexpassenger shot by the officer to purbige

Fourth Amendment claimld. at 1253. The decision was then affirmed by the Ninth

2 Specifically, Defendantsomtend that because the Supreme Court has not ruled on the matter, th
not “clearly established law(P&A 12:n.3.) This argument is contrary to Ninth Circuit precedent
holding that unpublished decisions and the law of other circuits may be uwbsténmine whether a
right is clearly establishe@rison Legal News, 397 F.3d at 7&arrels 290 F.3d at 970.
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Circuit. SeeTubar v. Clift 286 Fed.Appx. 348 (9th Cir. 2008). Defendants’ argume

therdore meritless.

Apparently recognizing thatubarcontradicts their argumeridefendantattempt
to distinguish the case on the basis that, udidsey, the passengen Tubarwasa
suspectvho theofficer intended to seize when he shot into the ¢@8&A 13n.4.)
Again, their argument lacks merit.

Similar to Officer Pak, the officer defendantlinbarcontendedhatbecause he

intended to shoot the driver, the passenger was not ssdecbuld not maintain his
Fourth Amendmentlaim. Tubar453F.Supp. 2d at 1255. In support of this argumen
the officer relied on cases involving innocent or undetected bystanders or hediage:
were accidently shot by officer3 he district court rejected the argument because thg¢
passenger and driver were betispects, who the officéintended to stop and seize”
Id. In other wordsthe passenger’s status as a suspect was imptrtastablisithe
officer's intert to seize him when he fired his weapon.

In contrast, here, the Complaint alleges that Offiagk specifically shot “at”
Kelsey while standing only5 feet from heside of the car. Tése fact are sufficient to
create a reasonable inference that he intended to Isbisaty, and thus seized her.
WhetherKelseywas a suspect at the time is, therefore, immaterial at this stage in tf

litigation. More importantly, becauseubarwas decided ten years before Officer Pak

shot Kelseythe Court finds the law was clearly established at the time of the incide

and accordingly Officer Pak is not entdleo qualified immunity?

3 The Supreme Court has noted that particularized case law is only necesszgoiobvious
cases.Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 199 (2004). Notwithstanding that Tubar is directly on
the Courtalso feelghisis an “obvious” case involving 4th and 14th Amendment violations.
Specifically, Plaintiffs allege DefendaRak intentionally shot Kelsey, whilzefendants have
acknowledgedKelseywas neither driving nor doing anything threateniknder these circumstances
Officer Pak’s conducivas contrary t@&arneis holding thatdeadly force may not be used to affect a
seizure unless the officer has probable cause to believe thaspextsposes a significant threat of
death or serious physical injury to the officer or othéds471 U.S. at 1.
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IV. CONCLUSION & ORDER

For the foregoing reasons, the CADENIES Defendants’ motiofiDoc. 6.
IT IS SO ORDERED.
Dated: June 9, 2017

omas J. Whelan
ted States District Judge
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